IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,190

MARY SHARON SULLIVAN,

Petitioner,

vs .

SILVER PALM PROPERTIES, INC.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500

SID J. WHITE

JUN 12 1989

CLERK, SUF PUE COURT

Depyty Clerk

and

ROBERT E. SCHACK, P.A. 1320 S. Dixie Highway Suite 900 Coral Gables, Florida 33146

BY: JOE N. UNGER Counsel for Petitioner Fla. Bar No. 082987

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mary Sharon Sullivan sued respondent and others for injuries received in a collision of the vehicle in which she was a passenger with a tree. The collision occurred when the driver lost control after hitting a series of bumps in the road caused by tree roots emanating from respondent's property. After several days of trial, the jury returned a verdict inding in favor of the petitioner, assessing her damages at \$250,000 and finding respondent, Silver Palm Properties, Inc. (adjoining property owner), 22.5% negligent; Dade County, 15% negligent; and Robert Stevens (the driver), 62.5% negligent. Final judgment entered against Silver Palm and its insurer reflecting a set-off of the \$50,000 settlement by Dade County. (R.611; Tr.740)

Silver Palm, appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. In a 2-1 decision, the judgment for petitioner was reversed based on the conclusion that **a** landowner (Silver Palm) does not have a duty to retard subterranean root growth which protrudes into an adjoining highway causing disruptions in the surface of the road. The dissenting judge stated that a long line of Florida precedent was controlling and required affirmance of petitioner's judgment.

Rehearing en banc was granted. Five judges voted to adhere to the panel opinion and certified the following question to this Court as one involving great public importance:

DOES A LANDOWNER HAVE A DUTY TO RETARD THE SUBTERRANEAN ROOT GROWTH OF ITS TREES WHICH ARE LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY?

Four judges dissented from the en banc decision, but concurred with certifying the question. The dissent again states that the law of Florida is clear that adjoining property owner may incur liability for damages caused by subterranean roots emanating from private property which protrude into a public right of way and cause it to be obstructed:

> "The majority holds that we should disregard this long line of precedent because here we are dealing with road obstruction caused by underground growth while the cited cases apply only to injury caused by above ground growth and other obstructions. I believe the law to be clear and unambiguous, to be broad enough to apply to the facts before us, and to be controlling of the disposition of this case." <u>Silver Palm Properties,</u> Inc. v. Sullivan, 541 So.2d 624 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

The facts presented to the jury are summarized in the District Court decision. On a wet, rainy day, Mary Sullivan was a passenger in a vehicle driven by her friend, Robert Stevens. While traveling along Southwest 232nd Street in South Dade County (in a lane which a surveyor estimated to be approximately seven feet wide), Stevens hit a series of bumps in the road, obscured by rainwater, causing him to lose control of his car and crash into a tree, causing serious injury to both himself and Mary Sullivan.

Silver Palm Properties was the adjacent landowner which owned Australian pine trees planted immediately adjacent to the road. It was the growth of roots from these trees which caused the road pavement to buckle. As acknowledged by Silver Palm, these trees helped prevent wind damage to the avocado fruit growing in the groves belonging to Silver Palm.

While 232nd Street is located in an agricultural area, there was testimony that the street is "pretty busy," "it is one of the main drags between Krome Avenue and U.S. 1." (Tr.72) There was also evidence that the trees roots which caused gross distortions in the driving surface of 232nd Street protruded so far into the roadway that there was no room for cars to get by the bumps without leaving the lane of travel. (Tr.90)

Petitioner's witness, Burton Morrow, a mechanical engineer (Tr.113), testified that approximately three and a half to four feet of pavement was uprooted to a height of five or six inches of broken, irregular pavement caused by the roots from the Australian pine trees. (Tr.125, 125) He testified that if a vehicle were traveling down the road in its proper lane of travel there would only be seven to seven and a half feet from the center of the roadway before the right tire would hit the bumps. (Tr.127) It was the opinion of this expert that the bumps, broken pavement, puddles, and the wet roadway were the primary cause of the accident. (Tr.143)

Silver Palm Properties is in the business of growing fruit. (Tr.271) It has owned the property abutting Southwest 232nd Avenue for "10 or 15 years." (Tr.272) The function of the Australian pines planted immediately adjacent to the roadway is to serve as a windbreak to protect the fruit from damage caused by wind. (Tr.274) During the years that Silver Palm owned the property, the roots of the trees had never been cut or pruned, nor had Silver Palm done any trimming of the trees. (Tr.276)

In 1974, Dade County expanded and resurfaced 232nd Street adjacent to the property owned by Silver Palm. (Tr.281) At that time, the roots which extended into the roadway and obstructed the road surface were scraped away with a scraping machine and the surface of the roadway was smoothed. (Tr.332) These same roots again protruded into the roadway between 1974 and the time of the accident in 1981.

Respondent's expert, James K. Dunaway, a botanist and horticulturist (Tr.283), testified that there were <u>six</u> <u>hundred feet</u> of 232nd Street in which there was some upheaval of the asphalt from four to six feet into the pavement caused by the roots from the Australian pine trees. (Tr.290)

He testified that there were two methods known to

horticulturists for maintaining a tree so that roots remain smaller and would not impinge upon the adjacent roadway. This would be by root-pruning (cutting the roots) or trimming the limbs of the tree. Controlling the size of the tree also controls the size of the roots necessary to support the tree. (Tr.294-295, 297-298)

The "topping" of the trees suggested to control the root size would have cost approximately \$20.00 a tree for the first trimming and approximately \$1.00 or \$2.00 per tree per year thereafter. (Tr.300) This expert testified that if the trees had been root-pruned in 1974 when the roadway was widened, it would not have been necessary to root prune again until 1984. (Tr.328)

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES A LANDOWNER HAVE A DUTY TO RETARD THE SUBTERRANEAN ROOT GROWTH OF ITS TREES WHICH ARE LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It has been the law of Florida for at least fifty years that a landowner may incur liability for damages caused by an obstruction of a public right of way. This rule of liability has been applied to artificial conditions, as well as vegetation emanating from private property. <u>Gulf Refining Co. v. Gilmore</u>, 112 Fla. 366, 152 So. 621 (1933); <u>Price v. Parks</u>, 127 Fla. 744, 173 So. 903 (1937); <u>Morales v.</u> <u>Costa</u>, 427 So.2d 297 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), <u>cert. den.</u>, 434 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1983); <u>Armas v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 429 So.2d 59 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

The Third District Court of Appeal has determined that subterranean tree roots growing under and causing bumps in a public bicycle path can constitute actionable negligence. See, <u>Stahl v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 438 So.2d 14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). There is no basis in common law nor common sense to impose a duty where protruding vegetation is above ground but to refuse to impose liability where an obstruction is caused by subterranean roots.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner respectfully suggests that the question certified is incomplete and should be:

DOES A LANDOWNER HAVE A DUTY TO RETARD THE SUBTERRANEAN ROOT GROWTH OF ITS TREES WHICH ARE LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY WHERE THE ROOTS CAUSE A MAJOR DISRUPTION OF THE ROAD SURFACE WHICH IS A HAZARD TO MOTORISTS?

On a wet, rainy day Mary Sullivan was a passenger in a vehicle driven by Robert Stevens. While traveling along Southwest 232nd Street in south Dade County, the vehicle hit a series of bumps in the road, obscured by rainwater, causing the driver to lose control of the car and crash into a tree. Respondent, Silver Palm Properties, was the adjacent landowner which owned Australian pine trees planted immediately adjacent to the road. It was the growth of roots from these trees which caused the road pavement to buckle. It was stipulated at trial that Dade County owned and maintained the subject road surface, while Silver Palm Properties admitted to ownership of the adjacent property and trees.

In the majority opinion reversing the final judgment for Mary Sharon Sullivan, the Court defines the issue on appeal to be whether a landowner has a duty to regulate the growth of roots from trees growing on his land where these roots extend beneath the adjacent publ c right of way. The majority finds that ". . .a landowner does not have a duty to retard the subterranean root growth of his trees."

The crux of the majority holding is in the concluding sentence of the opinion: "To impose upon a landowner a duty to undertake root trenching or tree topping purely in anticipation that subterranean growth may alter the surface of a public right-of-way at some indeterminate time in the future is both burdensome and unreasonable."

One judge dissented based upon the "well settled" rule that a private person may incur liability for damages caused by an obstruction of a public right of way. This rule was set forth in Florida in <u>Gulf Refining Co. v. Gilmore</u>, 112 Fla. 366, 152 So. 621 (1933) and affirmed in <u>Price v. Parks</u>, 127 Fla. 744, 173 So. 903 (1937).

The dissent points out that later decisions of the Third District have held that the obstruction of a public right of way by an adjacent landowner, even by vegetation which grows on private property, may subject the landowner to liability. These case are <u>Morales v. Costa</u>, 427 So.2d 297 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), <u>rev. den.</u>, 434 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Armas v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 429 So.2d 59 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). The dissent states the law of <u>Morales</u> and <u>Armas</u> to be clear, unambiguous, and broad enough to control disposition of the instant case.

It is an inescapable conclusion from reading <u>Morales</u> and <u>Armas</u> that the duty of an adjoining property owner to protect users of an adjacent right of way from an unreasonable risk of harm does not logically depend upon whether the vegetation growing from the private property is above ground or subterranean. Furthermore, the difficulty of correcting or preventing an obstruction does not eliminate the duty to do so, but is one factor which the trier of fact considers in determining whether a plaintiff can recover from a defendant.

The statement in the majority opinion that the offending vegetation ". .was anything but obvious" ignores the evidence presented to the jury that the adjoining property owner had known, at least since 1974 when the road was resurfaced by the County, that roots emanating from trees planted on its property had intruded into the roadway and caused it to buckle. As pointed out in the majority opinion, at the time the road was resurfaced in 1974 (seven years before petitioner's injury), the County merely scraped over the tops of the existing roots. If the trees had been

"root trenched," the trenching would have retarded root growth for approximately ten years, ". . .well beyond the date of the accident."

As established by the trial testimony, there was an "upheaval of asphalt" caused by the encroaching roots which ran four to six feet into the pavement for approximately <u>six</u> <u>hundred feet</u> of the adjoining roadway. (Tr.290) The owner of the property was well aware of the condition of the road and what caused it. (Tr.343) The property owner admitted that roots from trees growing on his property caused the surface of the road to be disrupted. He testified that that condition had existed prior to the resurfacing in 1974, was eliminated by cutting the tops off the roots by the County, and the same condition occurred after the roadway had been resurfaced. (Tr.346-347)

Both <u>Morales</u> and <u>Armas</u> applied the rule announced by this Court in <u>Gulf Refining Company v. Gilmore</u>, <u>supra</u>, fifty years previously: A landowner might be liable for obstructions to the public right of way based upon a duty owed to a user of that right of way not to obstruct it. See also, Price v. Parks, supra.

In <u>Morales v. Costa</u>, supra, the Third District determined that where the owner of adjacent property permits natural growth which emanates on private property to protrude into the public way, the owner of the adjacent property ". . .may incur liability for damages caused by an obstruction upon a public way." This determination is based upon the reasoning that the users of the public right of way have a right to expect that it will not be unreasonably obstructed. "Unreasonably obstructed" clearly applies to above and below ground obstructions.

The <u>Morales</u> decision was followed in <u>Armas v.</u> <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 429 So.2d 59 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). The plaintiff there was injured in an intersectional collision which plaintiff claimed had occurred because the view of a stop sign controlling the intersection was obstructed by foliage which had grown from the adjacent private property onto the right of way where the sign was located. The plaintiff sued not only the driver of the other vehicle, but the owner of the neighboring lot, the City of Miami, which controlled the swale and streets in question, and the County which had erected the stop sign. The trial court determined that there was no actionable breach of duty by any defendant and summary judgment was entered in their favor. These determinations were reversed.

As to the property owner, the court cites the "almost identical case" of <u>Morales v. Costa</u> for the proposition that a landowner may be liable for the maintenance of vegetation which grows and exists on private property but which protrudes into the public way. Based on <u>Morales</u> and the cases which it cites, the judgment in favor of the adjoining property owner was reversed. Once again it was determined that there could be an actionable breach of duty by an adjoining property owner.

The dissenting opinion to the order on rehearing en banc succinctly states Petitioner's argument:

"The majority holds that we should disregard this long line of precedent because here we are dealing with road obstruction caused by underground growth while the cited cases apply only to injury caused by above ground growth and other obstructions. I believe the law to be clear and unambiguous, to be broad enough to apply to the facts before us, and to be controlling of the disposition of this case.

It is elementary knowledge that a tree not only grows branches above ground, but also extends roots below ground. Consequently, just as a landowner has a duty to control his plants so that their above ground growth does not extend into a public right of way, so a duty must exist to control the plants' root growth."

Oddly enough, the same district court which would find no duty to retard subterranean growth on the part of the adjoining property owner found such a duty could exist on the part of a county which permitted subterranean roots to cause a bicycle path to buckle. <u>Stahl v. Metropolitan Dade</u> County, 438 So.2d 14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

Monick v. Town of Greenwich, 144 Conn. 608, 136 A.2d 501 (1957) was an action for injuries sustained by a plaintiff who tripped over the roots of a tree which had grown into a public highway. On appeal, judgment for the plaintiff was affirmed based on a determination the city was liable for the injuries proximately resulting from the nuisance which the city permitted to remain. Whether, as the opinion suggests, the roots were partially above and partially below ground made no difference in the <u>Monick</u> case and should make no difference here.

Over one hundred years ago, the rule of law which should logically govern the answer by this Court of the certified question in the affirmative was stated in <u>Weller</u> <u>v. McCormick</u>, 47 N.J.L. 397, 398, 1 A. 516 (1885), <u>app.</u> <u>after remand</u>, 52 N.J.L. 470, 19 A. 1101 (1890):

> "It must be conceded that ordinarily when a person for his private ends, places or maintains in or near a highway, anything which if neglected will render the way unsafe for travel, he is bound to exercise due care to prevent its becoming dangerous."

The "anything" to which the New Jersey court alludes clearly includes tree roots as well as tree branches. Florida decisions, prior to the instant case, would undoubtedly have agreed.

CONCLUSION

Implicit in the question certified is the recognition that Silver Palm, as the adjoining property owner, did have a duty to retard the above ground growth of its trees to prevent incursion into the public right of way. Where an open and obvious obstruction is caused by subterranean root growth, there is no logical reason to find no duty exists to prevent the obstruction from occurring. The property owner knew the roots from its trees were causing the adjacent roadway to buckle. Two methods existed to prevent further root incursion after the road was smoothed and repaired previously. An obvious hazard was detected and ignored. The questions of duty, failure to perform that duty and injury caused by that failure were properly submitted to the jury. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative in accordance with long established Florida precedent.

> LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500

and

ROBERT E. SHACK, ESQUIRE 1320 South Dixie Highway Suite 801 Coral Gables, Florida 33146

BY JOE N. UNGER

Counsel for Appellee Fla. Bar No. 082987