IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 74,190

MARY SHARON SULLIVAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

SILVER PALM PROPERTIES, INC.,

Respondent.

STHIN J. WHITE JUL SA 1989 Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Michael J. Murphy, Esquire Gaebe, Murphy, Mullen & Antonelli Attorneys for Respondent 4601 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Suite 100 33146

Coral Gables, Florida Tel: (305) 667-0223

INTRODUCTION

The Respondent/Appellant/Defendant below, SILVER PALM PROPERTIES, will be referred to as the "LANDOWNER". The Petitioner/Appellee/Plaintiff below, MARY SHARON SULLIVAN, will be referred to as "SULLIVAN". Metropolitan Dade County, a Defendant below and not a party to this appeal, will be referred to as the "COUNTY". Robert Stevens, Jr., a Defendant below and not a party to this appeal, will be referred to as the "DRIVER". The symbol "R" refers to the record on appeal. The symbol "T" refers to the transcript of the trial of August 20 through 24, 1986. The symbol "A" will refer to the attached Appendix. All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This personal injury negligence action arises out of a one vehicle accident. SULLIVAN sued the LANDOWNER, the COUNTY, and the DRIVER in 1983. The initial trial in January of 1985 ended in a mistrial. (T. 5) A second trial resulted and an assessment of liability against all Defendants in percentages and an appeal to the Third District Court of Appeals resulted in a reversal as to the LANDOWNER. On Rehearing En Banc, the Third District Court of Appeals adhered to the initial panel decision but certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

"DOES A LANDOWNER HAVE A DUTY TO RETARD THE SUBTERRANEAN ROOT GROWTH OF ITS TREES WHICH ARE LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY?"

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The LANDOWNER relies upon the recitation of facts contained within the District Court's majority Opinion. (A. 1-6)

The LANDOWNER also sets forth the following corrections and additions to SULLIVAN'S Brief:

On Page 4 of SULLIVAN'S Brief, she refers to James K. Dunaway as the "Respondent's botanist and horticulturist expert". However, Mr. Dunaway was, in fact, SULLIVAN'S expert, and it is believed that this is simply an inadvertent misstatement by SULLIVAN.

It should be pointed out that of the four methods put forth to retard subterranean root growth, two methods would have killed the trees outright, and the third would have effectively destroyed the trees' usefulness as windbreaks for the fruit crop. The fourth method, root trenching, would not have eliminated the subterranean root growth; it would have only delayed the necessity for further root trenching for approximately ten years according to **SULLIVAN'S** expert. Stevens, the driver of the vehicle, was very familiar with this particular two-lane paved rural roadway, as he used it daily to go to and from work. **51,** 73, **82)** Stevens lived only seven blocks away on the same street. (T. 51)He did not or could not see the bumps at the time of the accident because of the hard rain, but he knew from prior experience that they were there. (T. 56, 59, 65 and 89)

The Redlands where this accident occurred is a rural,

agricultural, and heavily wooded area. (T. 74, 122) Avocado groves abound, and the land abutting 232 Street, where the accident occurred, was used for growing avocados. (T. 273, 343) The LANDOWNER did not plant the trees in question. (T. 318, 654) There were no prior accidents in the area that were attributable to the bumpy surface of the roadway. (T. 534,535)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The LANDOWNER has no duty to remedy conditions of a purely natural origin upon its land. The LANDOWNER has no duty nor right to maintain or disturb an abutting County road. The only cases which create an exception to the general law stated above specifically address a land owner's duty as it affects vegetation which obstruct traffic control devices on abutting roadways. This is not the case before the Court. No exception should be made to the general rule of no duty.

ARGUMENT

"A LANDOWNER HAS NO DUTY TO RETARD THE SUBTERRANEAN ROOT GROWTH OF ITS TREES WHICH ARE LOCATED ADJACENT TO A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY."

The law is well-settled in Florida that a land owner has no affirmative duty to remedy conditions of a purely natural origin upon its land. Evans vs. Southern Holding Corporation, 391 \$0.2d 231 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); rev. den. 399 \$0.2d 1142 (Fla. 1981); Bever vs. Nelson, 493 \$0.2d 1124 Fla. 3d DCA 1986; Cushin vs. Grossman Holdins, Inc., 242 \$0.2d 79 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Stevens vs. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 415 \$0.2d 51 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Pediso vs. Smith, 395 \$0.2d 615 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981);

Bassett vs. Edwards, 158 Fla. 848, 30 \$0.2d 374 (1947).

The LANDOWNER and the Court below have acknowledged a very narrow exception to this generally accepted rule of no liability of a land owner for injuries caused by natural conditions on his That exception is not applicable in this case and is not universally accepted in all the District Courts. This narrow exception applies if a land owner plants and maintains trees or vegetation which obstruct a public traffic control device. and only then may a land owner be liable for traffic accidents caused by the obstructed device. Morales vs. Costa, 427 50.2d 297 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. den. 434 \$0.2d 886 (Fla. 1983) (land owner plans and assumes duty of maintaining trees in swale area which obstruct stop sign; plaintiff injured in intersectional collision; summary judgment for land owner reversed); Armas vs. Metropolitan Dade County, 429 So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) 59 (plaintiff injured in intersectional collision alleging land owner failed to prune branches which obstructed traffic control device; summary judgment for land owner reversed); contra, <u>Pedigo</u> vs. Smith, 395 So.2d 615 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (land owner alleged to be negligent for permitting tree to grow to obstruct stop sign; dismissal with prejudice in favor of land owner affirmed). None of the instant facts fit within the narrow exception recognized by the Third District and distinguished in the majority opinion. This case involves bumps on the surface of a public roadway which the COUNTY stipulated it owned and had the responsibility to maintain and repair it, and in addition, the

COUNTY stipulated that they knew it was in a defective condition. (T. 423, 429, and 465)

This Court, in the case of Bailey Drainage District vs. Stark, 526 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1988) recently stated:

"[A]lthough brush and weeds may be a naturally occurring condition not specifically created by a governmental entity, an entity responsible for maintaining an intersection has a duty to warn of or to make safe naturally occurring conditions which render an intersection dangerous when the conditions create a danger which is not readily apparent to motorists.

We also conclude that it is irrelevant whether the brush and weeds are actually located on the governmental entity's right-of-way or on privately owned property adjacent to the right-of-way. The relevant inquiry is whether the brush and weeds, wherever located, obstruct the view of motorists, creating a danger which is not readily apparent. If the brush and weeds are located on the entity's right-of-way, the entity may either warn of the danger or remove the obstruction. If the brush and weeds are located on privately owned property so that removal is not an option, the entity still has a duty to warn of the danger."

As stated in <u>Bailey</u>, and as stipulated by the COUNTY below, it is the governmental entity that has the right, the duty, and the obligation to maintain, repair, remedy, and warn of any condition on the public right-of-way. It is their's and their's alone.

The LANDOWNER had no duty nor right and was prohibited from remedying any situation on a public road pursuant to Metropolitan Dade County Ordinance No. 21-30, which expressly prohibits any individual from "moving, disturbing, or taking any earth, stone, or other material from any public street, alley, park or other

public grounds."

Prior to this case, the issue of an adjoining land owner's liability to persons on a public right-of-way for subterranean tree growth has never been addressed. In Stahl vs. Metropolitan Dade County, 438 So.2d 14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) the Third District addressed the issue of the County's liability for subterranean root growth which caused a disruption on a bicycle path allegedly causing a bicyclist to swerve from the bicycle path into the roadway where he was struck by a car. The County owned the bicycle path and the Court ruled on those facts that a cause of action was stated against the County. In Stahl the land owner was not sued. SULLIVAN'S reliance on Stahl is misplaced. It has nothing to do with a land owner's liability, but instead has to do with the County's duty which was stipulated, litigated, and decided by a jury in this case.

Florida cases involving a defective sidewalk have consistently ruled in favor of abutting land owners. In Beattie vs. city of Coral Gables, 458 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the Plaintiff tripped and fell on a cracked public sidewalk. The Court affirmed a Summary Judgment in favor of a business whose premises abutted the sidewalk. In Cantens vs. Jeff-Son, Inc., 381 So.2d 307 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the Plaintiff tripped and fell on a defective public sidewalk. The Court affirmed a Summary Judgment in favor of the hotel which abutted the sidewalk, holding that the hotel had no duty to maintain the sidewalk, which was the responsibility of the City of Miami Beach.

In other jurisdictions that have decided this issue, the land owner was held not liable for injuries resulting from an accident caused by roots growing under the surface of a public right-of-way. Wall vs. Village of Tullalah, 385 So.2d 905 (La. App. 1980); cert. den. 393 So.2d 737 (La. 1980); Rose vs. Sloush, 104 A. 194 (Ct. App. J.J. 1918); Bennett vs. Gordon, 244 A.2d 135 (N.J. App. 1968); Havden vs. Curley, 169 A.2d 809 (N.J. 1961); Citv of Birmingham vs. Wood, 197 So. 885 (Ala. 1940). These cases state that it would be obviously inequitable to subject a property owner to liability where he had no duty or right to maintain the public right of way affected by tree roots and no legal authority to remedy any situation which the naturally growing roots might have created.

In <u>Wall</u>, a Plaintiff tripped and fell over a raised portion of the sidewalk which was caused by root growth. It was alleged the abutting land owner was negligent for failing to maintain his trees so that roots would not push up the sidewalk. The trees had been in existence for a number of years. The Court held in favor of the landlord reasoning:

"Tort liability against the adjoining property owner results only when the adjoining property actually created or caused the defect involved."

The Court concluded:

"It was undisputed in this case that the defective sidewalk was caused by pressure from tree roots. It is the responsibility of the municipality and not that of [the abutting property owner] to maintain the sidewalk and correct the defect. Because of the remoteness of the relationship between the tree owner, the growth of the tree roots and the resulting defect in the

sidewalk, it cannot logically be held that [the abutting property owner] actually created or caused the defect **involved."**

In <u>City of Birmingham</u>, the Alabama Supreme Court confronted the situation where a Plaintiff had sustained injuries in a fall caused by a raised sidewalk pushed up by tree roots. In holding for the land owner, the Court stated:

"In the present case the growing and spreading of the roots, which caused the sidewalk to become uneven, were nature's work, over which [the land owner] had no control and concerning which she owed no duty,"

The County stipulated it owned and maintained the subject street and shoulder. The County widened and resurfaced the road in 1974. As pointed out in the majority opinion "the trees were not originally located immediately adjacent to the road but became proximate when Dade County widened and resurfaced the road in 1974."

Common sense dictates that an overwhelming burden would be placed upon private property owners if they were held liable for injuries resulting from damage caused by roots of naturally growing vegetation which protrude under the surface of either a sidewalk or highway. If abutting land owners were liable for such acts of nature, it would necessarily follow that a land owner would have to maintain (including resurfacing when necessary) portions of the public rights-of-ways bordering their property. Property such as public rights-of-way and easements are within the exclusive jurisdiction, for maintenance and repair, of the municipality, and in this case the County. As

pointed out in the case of <u>Gallo vs. Heller</u>, 512 \$0.2d 215 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987).

"The rule at common law and the majority rule in this Country, which is followed in Florida, is that a possessor of land is not liable to persons outside of the land for a nuisance resulting from trees and natural vegetation growing on the land. The adjoining property owner to such a nuisance, however, is privileged to trim back at [his] own expense any encroaching tree roots or branches or other vegetation which has grown on to his property. (citations omitted)"

SULLIVAN'S reliance upon Gulf Refining Company vs. Gilmore, 112 Fla. 366, 152 So.621 (1933) and Price vs. Parks, 127 Fla. 177 So,903 (1937) is misplaced. Both Culf and Price involved artificial conditions created by others on public rightof-ways. In <u>Gulf</u> the Plaintiff tripped over a cord at night as she stepped across a grass plot located between a paved sidewalk and a curb. A gas station owner had planted grass in the swale area between the curb and the sidewalk and had cordoned off the area to discourage walking across the planted space by The cord was dark in color, not readily observable pedestrians. at night, on stakes, and the Court simply ruled that this artificial condition created by the station could give rise to The case had nothing to do with naturally growing liability. vegetation on land abutting a public right-of-way. In <u>Price</u>, a contractor spilled slippery materials and substances on a public This was an artificial condition directly created on the public right-of-way, not naturally occurring.

CONCLUSION

Based upon these facts and the law cited in this brief and the majority opinion, this Court should answer the certified question: no.

CERTIFICATION

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true copy of the foregoing was mailed this 21st day of July, 1989, to: JOE UNGER, ESQUIRE, 66 West Flagler Street, Suite 606, Miami, Florida 33130; and ROBERT E. SHACK, ESQUIRE, 1320 South Dixie Highway, Suite 801, Coral Gables, Florida 33146.